



Workplace health: longterm sickness absence and capability to work

Quality standard Published: 3 September 2021

www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs202

Contents

Quality statements	5
Quality statement 1: Workplace culture and policies	6
Quality statement	6
Rationale	6
Quality measures	6
What the quality statement means for different audiences	7
Source guidance	8
Definitions of terms used in this quality statement	8
Equality and diversity considerations	8
Quality statement 2: Support during sickness absence	10
Quality statement	10
Rationale	10
Quality measures	10
What the quality statement means for different audiences	12
Source guidance	12
Definitions of terms used in this quality statement	13
Quality statement 3: Statement of fitness for work ('fit note')	14
Quality statement	14
Rationale	14
Quality measures	14
What the quality statement means for different audiences	15
Source guidance	16
Definitions of terms used in this quality statement	16
Quality statement 4: Support to stay in or return to work	17
Quality statement	17
Rationale	17
Quality measures	17

What the quality statement means for different audiences	19
Source guidance	19
Update information	20
About this quality standard	21
Resource impact	21
Diversity, equality and language	22

This standard is based on NG146.

Quality statements

<u>Statement 1</u> Employees work in organisations that develop policies for managing sickness absence and return to work as part of a broader, strategically led approach to promoting employees' health and wellbeing.

<u>Statement 2</u> Employees who are assessed as 'not fit for work' are contacted by their employer as soon as possible to provide support and discuss arrangements for keeping in touch during sickness absence.

<u>Statement 3</u> Employees have information in their statement of fitness for work about how their reason for sickness absence or their treatment might affect them on their return to work.

<u>Statement 4</u> Employees returning from sickness absence have any workplace adjustments recorded in a return-to-work plan that is monitored and reviewed.

Quality statement 1: Workplace culture and policies

Quality statement

Employees work in organisations that develop policies for managing sickness absence and return to work as part of a broader, strategically led approach to promoting employees' health and wellbeing.

Rationale

Workplace policies on sickness absence and return to work that are part of a proactively and strategically led commitment to employee health and wellbeing can help to prevent long-term sickness absence. These policies can help to reduce uncertainty about the sickness absence process and help employees return to work. Sickness absence and return-to-work policies should be flexible enough to support employees in different situations, depending on their individual circumstances and needs. Some organisations may not have formal policies in place, but they should still ensure that clear and accessible procedures are developed. Policies or procedures on sickness absence and return to work should be explained to all existing and new employees.

Quality measures

The following measures can be used to assess the quality of care or service provision specified in the statement. They are examples of how the statement can be measured, and can be adapted and used flexibly.

Structure

a) Evidence of a strategically led approach to employee health and wellbeing.

Data source: Local data collection, for example an employee health and wellbeing strategy with metrics and details of the progress made.

b) Evidence that policies for managing sickness absence and return to work are part of a strategically led approach to employee health and wellbeing.

Data source: Local data collection, for example policy reviews.

Outcome

a) Rates of long-term sickness absence.

Data source: Local data collection, for example HR management systems.

b) Rates of recurrent short-term sickness absence.

Data source: Local data collection, for example HR management systems.

c) Employee satisfaction with organisational implementation of policies for managing sickness absence and return to work.

Data source: Local data collection, for example staff surveys.

What the quality statement means for different audiences

Organisations (senior management teams) ensure that they have sickness absence and return-to-work policies in place, and that these policies are part of a proactive, strategic approach to promoting employee health and wellbeing. They ensure that the culture in their workplace is caring and supportive, and that the policies work for all employees. Organisations that do not have formal policies have clear and accessible procedures. They ensure that policies or procedures on sickness absence and return to work are explained to all existing and new employees.

Line managers ensure that they understand and apply sickness absence and return-to-work policies in a way that reflects a wider organisational culture that values and promotes employee health and wellbeing. They consider and accommodate the individual needs of employees when applying the policies. Line managers in organisations that do not have formal policies have a good understanding of available alternatives and apply clear and accessible procedures.

Employees are familiar with sickness absence management policies or procedures in their workplace. They are supported by their line managers in line with those policies or procedures in a way that meets their individual needs and situation. They experience this as part of a caring and supportive organisational culture that values and promotes employee health and wellbeing.

Source guidance

Workplace health: long-term sickness absence and capability to work. NICE guideline NG146 (2019), recommendations 1.1.2, 1.1.3 and 1.1.5

Definitions of terms used in this quality statement

Long-term sickness absence

An absence lasting 4 or more weeks. Recurring long-term sickness absence is defined as more than 1 episode of long-term sickness absence, with each episode lasting more than 4 weeks. [NICE's guideline on workplace health: long-term sickness absence and capability to work]

Short-term sickness absence

An absence lasting up to (but less than) 4 weeks. Recurring short-term sickness absence is defined as more than 1 episode of short-term sickness absence, each lasting less than 4 weeks. [NICE's guideline on workplace health: long-term sickness absence and capability to work]

Wellbeing

Wellbeing is the subjective state of being healthy, happy, contented, comfortable and satisfied with one's quality of life. [NICE's guideline on workplace health: long-term sickness absence and capability to work]

Equality and diversity considerations

Employees should be provided with policies that they can easily read and understand

themselves, or with support. Policies should be in a format that suits their needs and preferences. They should be accessible to people who do not speak or read English, and they should be culturally and age appropriate. Policies should consider the needs of employees as individuals, including requirements under the Equality Act 2010.

Quality statement 2: Support during sickness absence

Quality statement

Employees who are assessed as 'not fit for work' are contacted by their employer as soon as possible to provide support and discuss arrangements for keeping in touch during sickness absence.

Rationale

Making contact with employees who are assessed as 'not fit for work' in their statement of fitness to work ('fit note') and offering support and reassurance can help people return to work, and prevent a short-term absence becoming a long-term absence. The first contact should happen as soon as appropriate after the employee's 7-day self-certification period, and within 4 weeks of the start of the sickness absence. After considering the personal circumstances of the employee, their reason for and anticipated length of absence, as well as their communication needs and preferences, the first contact can be used to make it clear to the employee that the purpose of keeping in touch is to provide support, and help them return to the workplace when they feel ready. The person making contact can discuss with the employee how they would like to be contacted in the future, how frequently, and by whom. This will help to provide a supportive link between the employee and their workplace.

Quality measures

The following measures can be used to assess the quality of care or service provision specified in the statement. They are examples of how the statement can be measured, and can be adapted and used flexibly.

Structure

Evidence of policies or procedures to ensure that employees who are assessed as 'not fit for work' in their 'fit note' during periods of sickness absence are contacted by their

Workplace health: long-term sickness absence and capability to work (QS202)

employer as soon as possible during their sickness absence, and within 4 weeks of the start of the sickness absence.

Data source: Local data collection, for example review of organisation sickness absence and return-to-work policies, and HR management systems.

Process

a) Proportion of employees assessed as 'not fit for work' in their 'fit note' during periods of sickness absence who are contacted by their employer.

Numerator – the number in the denominator who are contacted by their employer.

Denominator – the number of employees who are assessed as 'not fit for work' in their 'fit note'.

Data source: Local data collection, for example employee HR records.

b) Proportion of employees assessed as 'not fit for work' in their 'fit note' who were contacted by their employer within 4 weeks of the start of their sickness absence.

Numerator – the number in the denominator who were contacted by their employer within 4 weeks of the start of their sickness absence.

Denominator – the number of employees assessed as 'not fit for work' in their 'fit note' during periods of sickness absence.

Data source: Local data collection, for example employee HR records.

Outcome

a) Rates of long-term sickness absence.

Data source: Local data collection, for example HR management systems.

b) Employee satisfaction with the support from their employer during their sickness absence.

Data source: Local data collection, for example employee surveys.

What the quality statement means for different audiences

Organisations (senior management teams, including the chief executive, and departmental managers) ensure that systems are in place to consider the earliest appropriate opportunity to contact employees who are assessed as 'not fit for work' in their 'fit note' during periods of sickness absence. They have systems in place to ensure that this happens within 4 weeks of the start of the sickness absence, that a meaningful and supportive discussion takes place, and that the employee is contacted by the most suitable person, which may not be their line manager.

The person making contact ensures that they contact the employee who is assessed as 'not fit for work' in their 'fit note' during periods of sickness absence, at the earliest appropriate opportunity, and within 4 weeks of the start of the sickness absence. They consider the individual circumstances and communication needs and preferences of the employee before making contact. They ensure that a meaningful discussion with the employee takes place that is supportive and does not pressure them about returning to work.

Employees who are advised that they are 'not fit for work' by a healthcare professional are contacted by their employer as soon as it is appropriate for them, and within 4 weeks of the start of the sickness absence. They are contacted in a way that suits their communication needs and preferences and the personal circumstances of their absence. They feel supported and valued by this contact and are offered help to return to work when they are ready, without pressure from their employer. They understand that anything shared about their health will be confidential (unless there is serious concern for their or others' wellbeing). They have the opportunity to discuss how they would like to be contacted in the future, how frequently, and by whom, including alternative options to their line manager if this contact is not appropriate.

Source guidance

Workplace health: long-term sickness absence and capability to work. NICE guideline NG146 (2019), recommendations 1.2.2, 1.5.1, 1.5.2, and 1.5.3

Definitions of terms used in this quality statement

Evidence of sickness absence

Employees can be asked to produce evidence of their reason for sickness absence if they are ill for more than 7 days in a row. Employers have flexibility over what evidence they accept. If the employee has been assessed by their healthcare professional, they may have been provided with a statement of fitness for work ('fit note') advising whether they are 'not fit for work' or 'may be fit for work'. [Adapted from <a href="https://employee.nc.nlm.

Short-term sickness absence

An absence lasting up to (but less than) 4 weeks. Recurring short-term sickness absence is defined as more than 1 episode of short-term sickness absence, each lasting less than 4 weeks. [NICE's guideline on workplace health: long-term sickness absence and capability to work]

Long-term sickness absence

An absence lasting 4 or more weeks. Recurring long-term sickness absence has been defined as more than 1 episode of long-term sickness absence, with each episode lasting more than 4 weeks. [NICE's guideline on workplace health: long-term sickness absence and capability to work]

Quality statement 3: Statement of fitness for work ('fit note')

Quality statement

Employees have information in their statement of fitness for work about how their reason for sickness absence or their treatment might affect them on their return to work.

Rationale

Employers have an important role in helping their employees return to and stay in work after a period of sickness absence. To provide personalised and appropriate support the employers need information that can help them understand the reasons for the absence and what kind of support the employee may need. Healthcare professionals can use the 'may be fit for work' option in the 'fit note' when appropriate to include advice for adjustments that may support the employee's return to work, including a phased return to work, altered working hours, amended duties, and workplace adaptations. The fit note also allows them to make additional comments and add detail that can help the employer to support the employee to return to work. This information should be provided in clear, non-technical language for employees and employers to use.

Quality measures

The following measures can be used to assess the quality of care or service provision specified in the statement. They are examples of how the statement can be measured, and can be adapted and used flexibly.

Structure

Evidence that statements of fitness for work include information on how an employee's reason for sickness absence or their treatment might affect them at work.

Data source: Local data collection, for example local audit of statements of fitness for work issued.

Process

Proportion of statements of fitness for work making use of the 'may be fit for work' option that include 'may be fit for work' advice.

Numerator – the number in the denominator that include 'may be fit for work' advice.

Denominator – the number of statements of fitness for work making use of the 'may be fit for work' option.

Data source: NHS Digital's fit notes issued by GP practices covers information on the proportion of fit notes making use of 'may be fit for work' broken down by the advice selected.

Outcome

a) Employee satisfaction with adjustments and support on their return to work.

Data source: Local data collection, for example employee surveys.

b) Rates of recurrent sickness absence.

Data source: Local data collection, for example HR management systems.

What the quality statement means for different audiences

Organisations (senior management teams, including the chief executive, and departmental managers) ensure that systems are in place for acknowledging and making appropriate use of the information in an employee's statement of fitness for work. They ensure that systems are in place to help employers understand the employee's reason for sickness absence and what support they might need when they return to work.

Healthcare professionals (GPs, hospital doctors, nurses, occupational therapists, pharmacists and physiotherapists) consider what information about a person's condition or treatment might affect their return to work and include this in the relevant sections of their statement of fitness for work. They include information that will help employers

understand the reason for sickness absence and what adjustments may be needed to help the employee return to and stay in work when appropriate.

Line managers ensure that any information included in an employee's statement of fitness for work is recorded and used appropriately, in line with systems in place in their organisation. They use the information to understand the reason for the employee's sickness absence and what support they might need to put in place. This can be a starting point in discussions with the employee about the required support and what adjustments might help them return to work.

Employees have information included in their 'fit note' from their healthcare professional about how their health or treatments might affect their return to work. Their line manager acknowledges, records and uses this information to start conversations about what arrangements could be put in place to help them return to work when they feel ready.

Source guidance

Workplace health: long-term sickness absence and capability to work. NICE guideline NG146 (2019), recommendation 1.2.5

Definitions of terms used in this quality statement

Evidence of sickness absence

Employees can be asked to produce evidence of their reason for sickness absence if they are ill for more than 7 days in a row. Employers have flexibility over what evidence they accept. If the employee has been assessed by their healthcare professional, they may have been provided with a statement of fitness for work ('fit note') advising whether they are 'not fit for work' or 'may be fit for work'. [Adapted from HMRC's guidance on Statutory Sick Pay: employee fitness to work]

Quality statement 4: Support to stay in or return to work

Quality statement

Employees returning from sickness absence have any workplace adjustments recorded in a return-to-work plan that is monitored and reviewed.

Rationale

Workplace adjustments that are tailored to the employee's needs and role can help the person to return to and stay in work after sickness absence. The adjustments should be discussed and recorded in a return-to-work plan and include an agreed timeframe for implementation and expected duration. Regular monitoring and review of the adjustments and the return-to-work plan will help to ensure that the needs of the employee and employer continue to be met, and highlight any potential need for amending the duration or additional adaptations. The return-to-work plan should be able to be accessed by the employee as well as the line manager and should not be used to create targets or pressure for employee performance.

Quality measures

The following measures can be used to assess the quality of care or service provision specified in the statement. They are examples of how the statement can be measured, and can be adapted and used flexibly.

Structure

a) Evidence of procedures to ensure that employees returning from sickness absence have any workplace adjustments recorded in a return-to-work plan.

Data source: Local data collection, for example review of organisation sickness absence and return-to-work policies.

Workplace health: long-term sickness absence and capability to work (QS202)

b) Evidence of procedures to ensure that employees returning from sickness absence have their return-to-work plan monitored and reviewed.

Data source: Local data collection, for example review of organisation sickness absence and return-to-work policies.

Process

a) Proportion of employees returning from sickness absence who need workplace adjustments and have a return-to-work plan.

Numerator – the number in the denominator who have a return-to-work plan.

Denominator – the number of employees returning from sickness absence who need workplace adjustments.

Data source: Local data collection, for example employee HR records.

b) Proportion of employees who have workplace adjustments recorded in a return-to-work plan who have their return-to-work plan monitored and reviewed.

Numerator – the number in the denominator who have their return-to-work plan monitored and reviewed.

Denominator – the number of employees who have workplace adjustments recorded in a return-to-work plan.

Data source: Local data collection, for example employee HR records.

Outcome

a) Employee satisfaction with workplace adjustments on their return to work.

Data source: Local data collection, for example local audit of return-to-work plans, employee surveys.

b) Rates of recurrent sickness absence.

Data source: Local data, for example HR management systems.

What the quality statement means for different audiences

Organisations (senior management teams, including the chief executive, and departmental managers) ensure that systems are in place to discuss, record, monitor and review workplace adjustments needed by employees returning from sickness absence. They ensure that return-to-work plans include timeframes for implementing the adjustments and how long they will last, and mechanisms for regular reviews, on a schedule agreed between the employee and their line manager or another appropriate person. In organisations that do not have formal systems, suitable clear and accessible procedures are developed and explained to all existing and new employees.

Line managers ensure that they discuss, record, monitor and review workplace adjustments needed by employees returning from sickness absence. They make use of return-to-work plans, including timeframes for implementing the adjustments and how long they will last, and mechanisms for regular reviews on an agreed schedule. They ensure that the return-to-work plan is not used to create targets or expectations for employee performance and that any timeframes are adaptable.

Employees discuss with their employer any support and adjustments they might need to help them return to work. They agree the adjustments, the timeframes for implementing them and their duration. They have regular opportunities to discuss and review how the adjustments work for them as well as to discuss and agree any changes they may need. They do not feel that their return-to-work plan is a target for performance or that the duration of their adjustments cannot be extended.

Source guidance

Workplace health: long-term sickness absence and capability to work. NICE guideline NG146 (2019), recommendations 1.4.2 and 1.4.3

Update information

Minor changes since publication

September 2022: Changes were made to the sections on what the quality statement means for different audiences and the definition of 'evidence of sickness absence' in statements 2 and 3 to reflect the Department for Work and Pensions amended legislation to enable nurses, occupational therapists, pharmacists and physiotherapists to certify fit notes in addition to doctors.

About this quality standard

NICE quality standards describe high-priority areas for quality improvement in a defined care or service area. Each standard consists of a prioritised set of specific, concise and measurable statements. NICE quality standards draw on existing NICE or NICE-accredited guidance that provides an underpinning, comprehensive set of recommendations, and are designed to support the measurement of improvement.

Expected levels of achievement for quality measures are not specified. Quality standards are intended to drive up the quality of care, and so achievement levels of 100% should be aspired to (or 0% if the quality statement states that something should not be done). However, this may not always be appropriate in practice. Taking account of safety, shared decision-making, choice and professional judgement, desired levels of achievement should be defined locally.

Information about <u>how NICE quality standards are developed</u> is available from the NICE website.

See our <u>webpage on quality standard advisory committees</u> for details of standing committee 2 members who advised on this quality standard. Information about the topic experts invited to join the standing members is available from the <u>webpage for this quality standard</u>.

NICE has produced a <u>quality standard service improvement template</u> to help providers make an initial assessment of their service compared with a selection of quality statements. This tool is updated monthly to include new quality standards.

NICE guidance and quality standards apply in England and Wales. Decisions on how they apply in Scotland and Northern Ireland are made by the Scottish government and Northern Ireland Executive. NICE quality standards may include references to organisations or people responsible for commissioning or providing care that may be relevant only to England.

Resource impact

NICE quality standards should be achievable by local services. The potential resource

impact is considered by the quality standards advisory committee, drawing on resource impact work for the source guidance. Organisations are encouraged to use the <u>cost</u> <u>calculator and resource impact statement for the NICE guideline on workplace health:</u> long-term sickness absence and capability to work to help estimate local costs.

Diversity, equality and language

Equality issues were considered during development and <u>equality assessments for this</u> <u>quality standard</u> are available. Any specific issues identified during development of the quality statements are highlighted in each statement.

Commissioners and providers should aim to achieve the quality standard in their local context, in light of their duties to have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations. Nothing in this quality standard should be interpreted in a way that would be inconsistent with compliance with those duties.

ISBN: 978-1-4731-4255-8

Endorsing organisation

This quality standard has been endorsed by Department of Health and Social Care, as required by the Health and Social Care Act (2012)

Supporting organisations

Many organisations share NICE's commitment to quality improvement using evidence-based guidance. The following supporting organisations have recognised the benefit of the quality standard in improving care for patients, carers, service users and members of the public. They have agreed to work with NICE to ensure that those commissioning or providing services are made aware of and encouraged to use the quality standard.

- Back Care
- Versus Arthritis
- Skills for Care
- Royal College of Nursing (RCN)
- Royal College of Occupational Therapists (RCOT)

Workplace health: long-term sickness absence and capability to work (QS202)					
Pain Concern					